

CIGI PAPERS
NO. 76 — SEPTEMBER 2015

SIMPLIFYING SOVEREIGN BANKRUPTCY A VOLUNTARY SINGLE HOST COUNTRY APPROACH TO SDRM DESIGN

GREGORY D. MAKOFF



SIMPLIFYING SOVEREIGN BANKRUPTCY: A VOLUNTARY SINGLE HOST COUNTRY APPROACH TO SDRM DESIGN

Gregory D. Makoff



Copyright © 2015 by the Centre for International Governance Innovation

The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Centre for International Governance Innovation or its Board of Directors.



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution — Non-commercial — No Derivatives License. To view this license, visit (www.creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/). For re-use or distribution, please include this copyright notice.



67 Erb Street West Waterloo, Ontario N2L 6C2 Canada tel +1 519 885 2444 fax +1 519 885 5450 www.cigionline.org

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- iv About the Global Economy Program
- iv About the Author
- **1** Executive Summary
- 1 The Global Financial Architecture
- 2 SDRM and CACs: A Twice-told Tale
- 3 Design Principles for a Single Host Country Voluntary SDRM Regime
- **6** Proposed Terms
- **6** Choosing the Jurisdiction
- 6 Likely Objections and Initial Responses
- 9 Discussion
- 10 Acknowledgements
- 11 Works Cited
- **12** About CIGI
- 12 CIGI Masthead

ABOUT THE GLOBAL ECONOMY PROGRAM

Addressing limitations in the ways nations tackle shared economic challenges, the Global Economy program at CIGI strives to inform and guide policy debates through world-leading research and sustained stakeholder engagement.

With experts from academia, national agencies, international institutions and the private sector, the Global Economy program supports research in the following areas: management of severe sovereign debt crises; central banking and international financial regulation; China's role in the global economy; governance and policies of the Bretton Woods institutions; the Group of Twenty; global, plurilateral and regional trade agreements; and financing sustainable development. Each year, the Global Economy program hosts, co-hosts and participates in many events worldwide, working with trusted international partners, which allows the program to disseminate policy recommendations to an international audience of policy makers.

Through its research, collaboration and publications, the Global Economy program informs decision makers, fosters dialogue and debate on policy-relevant ideas and strengthens multilateral responses to the most pressing international governance issues.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR



Gregory D. Makoff is a CIGI senior fellow and the former global head of Sovereign Liability Management at Citi.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This paper presents a new way to design a court-based sovereign debt restructuring mechanism (SDRM). While most proposals for such mechanisms aim to develop a multi-country or global mechanism to restructure sovereign commercial debts, this proposal suggests that a single country could set up a sovereign bankruptcy court and invite debtors to use its legal system to gain the benefit of the mechanism. It is argued that this single country approach substantially simplifies the set up and operation of the SDRM and that it lowers the opportunity for holdout investors to carry out disruptive litigation. The detailed design of the mechanism begins with an analysis of the incentives of debtors and creditors in order to identify a mix of features that could be included to attract both constituents. The proposal would be court-based and grant the judge the power to sanction debtors or creditors should they fail to cooperate in reaching a solution. Legal stays to protect the debtor against holdout litigation would be an important component. One, perhaps unique, feature of this proposal is that payment standstills on affected debt would be structured to allow continued payment of interest from the debtor to creditors during the negotiation of terms, while principal payments would be deferred. The paper also places the proposal in the context of the historic debates in which SDRM has faced off against collective action clauses (CACs) as a policy prescription.

INTRODUCTION

While countries around the world have set up successful bankruptcy systems to handle the reorganization of troubled companies, policy makers have faced tremendous challenges in setting up an analogous system to handle sovereign bankruptcies. This is not for lack of effort. Proposals to set up a sovereign bankruptcy court have been made since the 1930s, and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) undertook a significant effort to set up a system in the early 2000s. But progress in this area has been hampered by some fundamental challenges in resolving sovereign debt problems: there is no objective method for determining the fair trade-off of debt relief versus fiscal adjustment; sovereignty will limit the power of a court to compel debtor actions; and debt will typically involve many different facilities borrowed under a number of different legal jurisdictions. There is also strong resistance to change: creditors are strongly opposed to weakening their rights and many sovereign borrowers are rightly worried that a change in the rules of the game could make the cost of their funds go up. In a word, it is complicated.

In place of a formal system, a pragmatic solution has evolved. Debtors in crisis will typically work with the IMF to develop a plan, and then the debtor will present an offer to creditors. The threat that the IMF will withhold support for the debtor provides some leverage. An

exchange offer is used to switch old bonds for new bonds with eased financial terms. This approach allows case-by-case negotiation of terms. And it has been improved in the last decade as CACs have been added to sovereign bond documentation, a feature that allows a supermajority of creditors to sweep non-participating creditors into a transaction. This approach works pretty well, but provides no mechanism to resolve debtor-creditor stalemates. And critics say it leads to "too little, too late" outcomes.

This paper proposes a potentially workable way to set up an SDRM that could be used to help resolve the most challenging situations. The idea is to cut down on the complexity relative to prior proposals and build on what seems to work in the market-based approach. In place of a complicated multilateral mechanism, a single host country simply sets up a sovereign bankruptcy court and invites debtors to borrow under its laws. One country holds the pen and operates the system. Debtors wishing to join the system will issue new bonds governed by the law of the host jurisdiction. No debtor will be forced to use the system if they are afraid it would increase their cost of funds. No creditor will be forced to buy the bonds. All it needs to get going is a single country to set up the system. It is a "build it and they will come" approach.¹

The proposal is developed in four parts. First, the paper provides some history and sets out how the proposed approach to SDRM would fit into the global financial architecture for resolving sovereign debt crises. Second, using an analysis of the incentives of debtors and creditors, design principles to maximize buy-in from both sides are set out. The paper suggests the principles that should apply in selecting a host country. Finally, likely criticisms and possible next steps are discussed.

THE GLOBAL FINANCIAL ARCHITECTURE

The global financial architecture is essentially a set of tools used to help countries regain their footing after falling into a financial crisis or to avoid them in the first place. The working elements include: economic adjustment programs; market funding and exchange offers; IMF and bilateral loans; and various forms of debt restructuring.

These tools come into play depending on the complexity and severity of a crisis. Moderately severe crises are resolved through fiscal belt-tightening and other reforms.

¹ This paper focuses on the commercial fundamentals of how a sovereign bankruptcy regime could be designed to gain the support of creditors, debtors and Group of Seven (G7) policy makers. It may be categorized as a "model law" approach, such as those currently under study in the International Insolvency Institute Working Group on Sovereign Insolvencies and the Centre for International Governance Innovation International Law Research Program Working Group on Cross Border and Sovereign Insolvencies, albeit with non-traditional commercial features.

More severe crises may be resolved with the aid of an IMF loan. Market-based restructurings may come to play in deep crises, and would typically involve a debt exchange offer that includes the use of CACs.

It could be argued that the existing market-based mechanism has severe drawbacks: it is often hard to get debtors and creditors to the negotiating table in a timely fashion, and then there is no way to break a logjam should the debtor and creditors fail to agree on a deal. A stalemate could lead the debtor to precipitously default. The disruption and antagonism surrounding such a default could lead to a long period of non-payment for creditors and economic stagnation for the debtor — an outcome that would maximize damage to all involved. The aim, therefore, is to develop a system that breaks negotiation logjams and lowers the chance of a precipitous default.

SDRM AND CACs: A TWICE-TOLD TALE

Proposals for a formal SDRM date back to the 1930s. SDRMs were first proposed by debtors in the context of a wave of Latin American bond defaults. Academic interest blossomed during the less-developed-country debt crisis of the 1980s. Policy-maker interest came in the wake of Mexico's tequila crisis in the mid-1990s; this interest intensified with the capital account crises and large IMF bailout programs of the late 1990s and early 2000s (Rogoff and Zettelmeyer 2002; Olivares-Caminal 2014).

Most SDRM proposals have included provisions to solve the well-known problems of bankruptcy regimes: legal stays were suggested to counteract the risk of a "rush to the courthouse" following a default; collective voting mechanisms were suggested to solve the "holdout creditor problem"; and payment standstills or moratoriums were suggested to resolve the "rush to the exit problem" (Roubini 2002; Schwarcz 2000). Proposals from the period varied in scope and the usage of the available mechanisms. Some were court-based and others used arbitrators. The original SDRM proposals are often termed "treaty-based" solutions because they would have been implemented by a change in international agreements and the laws of countries (Jewett 2014).

In 2002, the IMF proposed that a comprehensive SDRM be set up under its tutelage (Krueger 2002). The proposal was pretty contentious. It generated a very negative reaction from the bond market and doubts were voiced by large sovereign borrowers who were afraid the mechanism could increase their cost of borrowing from the bond market. The proposal was dropped — but, as a quid pro quo, developing market borrowers and debt investors agreed to support the insertion of CACs into sovereign bonds (Setser 2002). As a result, most sovereign international bonds have been issued with CACs since 2003. The CAC approach is often called the "contractual" or "market-based" approach, as

restructurings are implemented via a mechanism built into the debt contracts at the time of issuance.

In the wake of the recent problems with Greek and Argentine debt, policy makers and leading investors agreed in 2014 to enhance the power of CACs. Here is the technical problem that needed to be addressed: 2003-era CACs require a separate vote of holders of each series of eligible bonds to approve of a restructuring — and that provides an opportunity for holdout investors to aim to block the operation of CACs on particular series of bonds. The new CACs address this problem by providing for "aggregated voting," a process whereby a single pooled vote of all affected creditors has the power to approve a binding restructuring agreement (Makoff and Kahn 2015).

It is interesting to note that the first phase of the story above largely repeated itself in Europe over the last few years. The blow-up of the euro-zone debt markets in 2010 led European policy makers to debate how best to restructure euro-zone sovereign debt, should it be required. The idea of a European SDRM was put on the table (Gianviti et al. 2010). As before, it invited extremely negative feedback from the market. And, as before, the agreed solution was to insert CACs into euro-zone sovereign bonds. Since January 2013, all euro-zone sovereign bonds longer than one-year maturity have been issued with CACs.

CACs have, therefore, shown substantial power as a solution. They beat out the SDRM in two intensive reviews of the policy options and they have been readily accepted in the market. Moreover, they have proven to be flexible — witness the recent increase in their powers. But it is not just a story of CACs versus an SDRM, it is a story of convergence, as CACs now embed the single most important feature of the 2000-era SDRM proposals: aggregated voting.

In a new twist, the policy debate has expanded to a new forum: Argentina and Bolivia have championed an initiative for the United Nations to get involved in developing a more complete SDRM. On September 9, 2014, the UN General Assembly approved Resolution 68/304, which provided for hearings to explore the implementation of an SDRM. The voting provides a good measure of the state of play among global policy makers: all the G7 countries voted against it, the Group of Twenty (G20) was split, and the Group of Seventy-Seven offered overwhelming support. With this said, there is little hope for a global SDRM system to come into force without the support of the G7, which controls the IMF board and the UN Security Council.

One consequence of the stalemate on the implementation of an SDRM is that proponents are now looking at incremental approaches. The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) has put forth a comprehensive framework for debt restructuring that includes setting up an expert group to assist with restructurings and to possibly serve as mediators (UNCTAD 2015). The legal community has studied a "model law" approach that would rely on countries voluntarily signing up to a common legal framework (Schwarcz 2015). This paper provides a way forward that is similar to these new incremental proposals, but makes a virtue out of its simplicity and voluntary character.

DESIGN PRINCIPLES FOR A SINGLE HOST COUNTRY VOLUNTARY SDRM REGIME

The design process for the single host country SDRM would need to find common ground among debtors and creditors in how sovereign bankruptcies should be handled in order to gain adherents on a voluntary basis. An analysis of the incentives that drive debtors and creditors is shown in Table 1.

Table 1: Debtor and Creditor Incentives to Support SDRM Bonds

Debtor Incentives

- **Legitimacy:** Public officials work better within a formal rather than an informal system.
- Predictability: Public officials need to be able to anticipate the timeline and process when they commence a restructuring.
- Speed: Maximum speed is necessary to minimize the knock-on damage to the debtor's economy.

Creditor Incentives

- Avoid precipitous defaults: Creditors want to avoid Argentina-like surprise defaults and unilateral offers.
- Reduce market volatility: Creditors would benefit from reduced bond price volatility.
- Governance: Creditors need assurances that a country will carry out promised reforms that are needed to boost debt repayment capacity.

This table suggests a bargain that could be cut between the parties: give debtors a court-based system that has some real teeth to compel cooperative behaviour, and give creditors protection from precipitous defaults and assurances that promised reforms will be carried out. Therefore, the starting point is a court-based scheme. It could be set up in a single country and used in a voluntary format to establish it as a truly market-based option. The risk of precipitous defaults is handled through limitations on payment standstills.

In the proposed scheme, the court will play an important role in overseeing payment flows from the debtor to creditors. Debtors, subject to availability of cash, would be expected to pay all interest due to creditors during the course of negotiations. However, in most cases, the principal would be forcibly rolled over into new shortdated instruments because markets should be shut to the debtor once it enters into the SDRM and to avoid the situation, as in Greece, where the full repayment of maturing short-dated debt increased the share of the burden borne by holders of longer-dated bonds. A helpful by-product of the approach is that the presumption of steady cash flow from the debtor to creditors opens up a tool for possible use by the judge — this cash flow could be increased or decreased to sanction the debtor or creditors should they be uncooperative.

Before going on, it is worthwhile to pause and discuss a bit more the logic behind the proposed approach to payment standstills. It is a novel approach, and is at odds with conventional thinking about sovereign bankruptcy (Miller and Zhang 1999). Here, therefore, are some reasons why the debtor — and not just the creditors — should favour the approach. All considerations derive from the fact that keeping interest payments flowing should reduce the drop in prices of bonds subject to restructuring relative to the drop that would apply in the case of a full payment moratorium. Less price volatility means it will be easier for long-term investors to hold positions and avoid selling out to more aggressive investors. It would help the debtor limit knock-on effects on local institutions and individuals that own the debtor's international bonds and generally help the debtor retain confidence in its economy.

While a bit different from prior proposals, there are some studies that see value in reducing market volatility: in 2001, Adam Lerrick and Allan H. Meltzer proposed a scheme in which the IMF would purchase distressed sovereign bonds at 85 percent of its sustainable value with the objective of stabilizing market prices (Lerrick and Meltzer 2001). And the IMF has recognized that there are trade-offs in implementing payment standstills (IMF 2003, 5).

Table 2: Mechanics of the SDRM

Term	Choice	Rationale		
Scope of debt instruments covered	International bonds, loans and derivatives.	Multilateral, bilateral and domestic debt would be issued under their own documentation (and unlikely to be governed by the host country laws) and would be restructured separately.		
Entering into the SDRM	Triggered by debtor, subject to acceptance by court.	It would breach the debtor's sovereignty to allow creditors to trigger the SDRM, so this is not permitted.		
Terminating the SDRM	Upon conclusion of a restructuring or under the direction of the court.	The court would retain the power to terminate the SDRM if the debtor is uncooperative.		
Legal stay	Triggered upon entering the SDRM.	Debtors would need this protection to be willing to use an SDRM process, given a primary concern is the avoidance of expensive and embarrassing lawsuits.		
Payment standstills	Scheduled interest would usually continue to be paid during the SDRM. But, maturing debt will usually be rolled into new short-term instruments under court order. Any payments by the debtor will be	This would stabilize debtor-creditor relations and minimize knock-on effect economic consequences.		
	subject to its ability to pay.			
Creditor committees	Recognized by debtor and court. Reasonable fees and expenses of the committee will be paid by the debtor.	This is the conventional arrangement in sovereign debt restructurings.		
Restructuring agreement	Presented by the debtor to creditors under supervision of the court.	This is the conventional approach.		
Creditor approval majority	Seventy-five percent majority of all creditors acting as a single class.	Same as for CACs to avoid supplanting market-based restructurings.		
Eligible claims All debt of the debtor issued under the law of the host jurisdiction and registered with the local clearing system at the time of issuance.		This fully registered system provides for real- time transparency of claims subject to the SDRM.		
Claims of investors will be based the par amount of bonds held plany accrued and unpaid interest Special provisions would be desito determine the claims value of coupon bonds, derivatives or oth instruments.		Similar to the treatment under aggregated CACs.		

Term	Choice	Rationale	
Consideration	Creditors will be offered "uniform consideration," that is, the same instruments or menu of instruments. Exceptions may be defined; for example, creditors holding instruments in different currencies may receive comparable offers of new instruments each in their own currency.	This approach is similar to the treatment under CACs, but has more flexibility to consider exceptions through a ruling of the court.	
Time-ordered consideration (alternative)	When the aggregate net present value impact of the transaction is expected to be low (let's say less than 20 percent calculated at a standard discount rate), the debtor will have the option to reprofile the debt in a transaction that effectively extends the maturity or duration of instruments by an equal amount.	This would apply when countries suffer from a liquidity crisis rather than a solvency crisis. Voting for this alternative consideration could involve a two-limb procedure that requires the general approval of creditors as well as support from creditors holding different maturity instruments.	
Interim and new money DIP financing	The IMF will be the conventional provider of such lending. When IMF lending or other sources of funding are not available, senior market-based funding may be put in place.	Market-based DIP funding should be discouraged and rarely used. Debt markets thrive on simplicity and the creation of multiple classes of traded sovereign debt would harm liquidity and complicate any future restructurings.	
Claims verification	Recognized amounts will be confirmed by the clearing system to the court.	The single host country approach simplifies verification relative to multilateral approaches that accept claims in different forms and from multiple jurisdictions.	
Hedging derivatives claims	Procedures will define what amounts, if any, of derivatives contracts will be restructured on a <i>pari passu</i> basis with other claims.	This is to avoid derivatives lending structures designed to free ride on the debt restructuring mechanism, although the structure should provide a safe harbour to protect counterparties to bona fide hedging transactions.	
Credit default swaps (CDS)	These should be triggered upon entry into the SDRM. As a further protection, creditors could be required to disclose holdings of any credit hedging instruments that have not been triggered to allow a netting of their exposure in the vote counting process.	This is to avoid conflict of interest between creditors with or without a net credit exposure. While subject to potential abuse, the CDS disclosure mechanism would introduce significant legal and financial risk to creditors who fail to disclose positions when they vote in a restructuring.	
debtor compliance mechanism. to und delive Should the IMF not fulfill this role, at the		This feature should both encourage debtors to undertake IMF reform programs and to deliver on promises made to bondholders at the time of the execution of debt restructuring agreements.	

PROPOSED TERMS

This section sets out the technical specifications for the proposed SDRM regime. The detailed terms are set out in Table 2, along with a general description and rationale for each design choice. The specifications cover a wide range of topics, including:

- · legal framework;
- scope of debt;
- procedures to enter and exit;
- legal stays and payment standstills;
- senior interim or new money debtor-in-possession (DIP)-style financing;
- · creditor committees; and
- voting majorities.

Four areas deserve special discussion:

- Court-based single host country: A single host country system should be far simpler to set up and operate than a multilateral scheme. It should be easier for investors to understand and easier for debtors to navigate. A court-based system would be expected to garner greater buy-in from debtors and creditors than a system relying on arbitrators. And a courtbased system should allow a build-up of a body of precedent over time.
- Sanctions: While the judge would be expected to facilitate the discussion, he or she would also have significant powers to sanction uncooperative debtors or creditors. The judge would have procedural tools, such as control over the use of stays and the entry into and exit from SDRM. The judge would also have a real hammer: the ability to increase or decrease the interest (or principal) paid by a debtor to creditors.
- Role of the IMF: The system is designed to maintain the IMF's central role in market-based debt restructurings. No other party can match its technical resources and its ability as a member organization to gain access to the debtor. And its capabilities for emergency lending and program oversight could not be easily replicated in a market mechanism or by a new third-party supervisor. The IMF would be positioned as a supporter of the debtor, while at the same time it could be the preferred expert witness on matters of debt sustainability. However, if the IMF will not fulfill these roles, market DIP lending and court-supervised debt relief conditionality could take their place. For the avoidance of doubt, the proposed mechanism would not require the IMF to change its policies and procedures and the court would have

- no power to compel the IMF to take any particular actions.
- Sovereign bond documentation: The bonds issued under the host regime will contain CACs and all the other conventional features of sovereign bonds. Events of default would need to be designed to mesh with the host country's legal system. Some features of the regime for example, the seniority of multilateral lending might be included in the bond documentation as well as in the underlying legal framework.

CHOOSING THE JURISDICTION

A host country is only likely to attract users to its SDRM regime if it has strong rule-of-law credentials. The legal systems most trusted by international bond markets are those of the United States and the United Kingdom, so they would be natural candidates. Many other countries could also credibly set up an SDRM, for example, the Netherlands, Canada, Switzerland, France, Germany or Sweden may be good candidates.

For many countries, a host jurisdiction would be at the state level rather than the national level. In the United States, the obvious candidate is New York Law, as it is used for the majority of sovereign international bonds issued around the world. An alternative could be Delaware, which is widely used for the incorporation of US companies and has a well-respected commercial court system. For Canada, the Province of Ontario would be an obvious choice, given it is the country's commercial centre and is easily accessible from the United States and Europe.

To be sure, a lot of work would have to be done to get a country or state interested in hosting a court and then to put the system in place. There would be significant costs, uncertainties and challenges to setting up a court and maintaining the system. What if investors do not come? What if existing investors flee as a result of the change? And, if the host jurisdiction is New York or England, how would large stocks of existing debt be handled? There is much to study in these areas on a general basis and with respect to specific potential host jurisdictions.

LIKELY OBJECTIONS AND INITIAL RESPONSES

A host of issues and doubts would arise if a country sought to implement an SDRM regime as proposed herein. Here is a discussion of some of the more predictable objections that one might anticipate from debtors, creditors and technical experts.

Possible Debtor Concerns

This scheme is too creditor friendly and therefore risks "too little, too late" outcomes. Unlike CACs, the proposed solution provides for powerful sanctions to be brought to bear on creditors (or debtors) if they are not cooperative in reaching a solution — this should help lower the incidence of "too little" outcomes. The predictability provided by the court-based approach should encourage troubled debtors to seek reorganization at an earlier date than they otherwise would — this should help reduce "too late" outcomes.

Won't the court scheme saddle the debtor with large costs, as seen in commercial bankruptcy courts? Sure, court-based approaches will be expensive. The SDRM should be used as a last resort.

Possible Creditor Concerns

The SDRM regime encourages moral hazard by making it easier for debtors to gain relief. It is true that the scheme would make it easier for debtors to achieve adequate debt relief, but there would be a number of important creditor protections to prevent abuse: the debtor would be expected to undertake deep reforms; the debtor would need to provide detailed disclosure about its planned reform program and economic assumptions; a supermajority vote of creditors would be required to effect a debt restructuring agreement; and to keep the debtor's feet to the fire in carrying out promised reforms after the restructuring, IMF oversight and lending conditionality would usually apply, otherwise court-monitored debt relief conditionality could take its place.

The system adds no value — there is no enforcement mechanism to compel a wayward government to follow directions of the court, and there is nothing to stop a government from defaulting instead of entering into the mechanism. The proposed regime cannot prevent these outcomes, but it would strongly raise the reputational ante on government officials choosing these routes — a government would face a significant loss of credibility among both domestic and international stakeholders if it were to choose a disorderly path when an orderly procedure is available.

Why would you want to reopen old debates by seeking to instill a bankruptcy process through a change of laws? Hasn't it been proven that it is much more efficient to put restructuring mechanisms directly into bond contracts as has been done with CACs? Bond contracts work well for simple, clear procedures, such as aggregated voting, as the process can be described in a few lines; but they are not a natural place to describe a complex multifaceted process, such as a bankruptcy regime that grants discretionary powers to a third party and which needs to cover a wide range of contingencies.

For the avoidance of doubt, for an individual bond to be subject to the SDRM two things need to happen: first, the host country needs to enact the relevant laws, and then the debtor needs to "check the box" to bind-in the mechanism by specifying that its bond documentation will be governed by the law of the host country.

Possible General and Technical Concerns

It will take over a decade for outstanding stocks of long-term bonds to mature and be refinanced in the new format — shouldn't legal mechanisms be used to impose SDRM on existing bonds? There are two issues to address here. First, it will not necessarily take a decade for a given government to move its bonds into the SDRM. A government could choose to issue new bonds in the SDRM regime as soon as the legal system is in place, and, provided that goes well, existing stocks of debt could be moved from their existing format into the new format via an exchange offer or a vote of bondholders — albeit with some costs. Second, a legal mechanism to force the transition would go against the voluntary, market-based and gradualist character of the proposal; it's a virtue of the proposal that it would allow ample time for the finetuning of the bankruptcy procedures before it is expected to be widely used.

For the avoidance of doubt, bonds issued under legal systems other than the host country would not be affected when the host country sets up the SDRM. For example, if the Netherlands were to set up an SDRM, only bonds issued under the laws of this jurisdiction would be subject to the court process; bonds governed by the laws of other jurisdictions (such as New York or England) would be unaffected.

Let's say a host country has put in place the SDRM. How, then, do you treat bonds that are already documented under the law of the host country? Are they automatically eligible for the SDRM? This is a potentially contentious and complicated area. Automatic eligibility implies, in effect, that the transition to the SDRM regime requires a retroactive change of outstanding bond contracts, which goes against rule-of-law principles and could be legally challenging in some jurisdictions. But it need not be a big problem; for example, there will be no transition issue if the law of the host country (state or province) is not currently used to document any (or only a small number of) international sovereign bonds. Now, if one of the leading jurisdictions of international bond issuances wishes to set up an SDRM, things will be more complicated. But, where there is a will there should be a way — for example, some combination of legal means and voluntary procedures might allow debtors to opt in or out of the system with the agreement of creditors to mitigate legal risks and creditor concerns.

How would you identify qualified judges? What principles would guide the court? Would appeals be allowed? Much work remains to be done in these areas. Studying Chapter 9 of the US bankruptcy code used to resolve municipal defaults in the United States might be a good place to start (Clement and Black 2014). In any case, the approach to answering these questions would be specific to the host country's legal system.

Why base the mechanism on a single country's court system rather than a neutral multilateral organization? Creditors and/or debtors should prefer the familiarity of working within a known legal system in a process overseen by judges experienced in resolving commercial disputes. Investors would worry that a system run by an international organization may be debtor-biased and/or lead to unpredictable outcomes. In terms of complexity, using an existing court system with the power to enforce its own actions, such as litigation stays, seems a whole lot simpler than a two-step procedure in which an international organization makes determinations that then need to be enforced in one or more jurisdictions under whose laws the bonds are documented.

What if the IMF and the court differ on how a particular sovereign bankruptcy should be handled? The system is designed to facilitate direct debtor-creditor agreement on the terms of a restructuring. The task of the debtor, with the support of the IMF, would be to convince the required majority of creditors of the fairness and benefits of the proposed restructuring. The IMF would have no special powers to dictate outcomes. The judge's primary role would be to facilitate orderly discussions, although the court would have sanctioning powers that could be used to nudge the parties toward an agreement.

Why is it fair to always pay investors contractual interest during the SDRM? What if, just prior to default, the debtor issues a bond at a very high coupon? The system should be designed to usually require payment of contractual interest rates, but should also provide ways to equalize payment to creditors or amend the terms of specific facilities when necessary, to assure inter-creditor fairness. Abusive pre-petition financing agreements should be subject to revision.

The proposal includes the possibility of offering reprofiling-style, time-ordered consideration to creditors. A credible bankruptcy system is based on recognizing par claims in order to treat all creditors on an even-handed basis, so why bring this up here? Reprofiling of bond maturities was proven in various transactions, including Uruguay's highly successful 2003 exchange offer, to be a very powerful solution when a sovereign debtor faces a liquidity crisis instead of a solvency crisis. Reprofiling should be part of the tool kit, although perhaps subject to class voting by maturity buckets to assure inter-creditor fairness when departing from par-based consideration.

Given CACs provide an effective legal mechanism to implement debt restructurings, shouldn't policy makers focus instead on low-cost solutions for helping debtors and creditors come to agreements such as codes of conduct and sovereign debt forums? These soft-skill approaches address some of the human and institutional elements of resolving crises — they get people together more quickly and should help assure a well-mannered and principled dialogue of the issues at hand. But when vast sums of money are at stake, it would be prudent to have hard tools on standby in case the soft approaches fail to get the job done.

The discussion of incentives is incomplete — what about disincentives that may cause debtors or creditors to reject the system? Admittedly, the discussion is limited in this area. But the idea is to use the paper to gather reactions from debtors and creditors before presenting a more definitive analysis. Call the proposed structure a trial balloon or a straw man. To be sure, in the area of sovereign financing, inertia will be the biggest disincentive to advancement.

Would debtors and creditors really trust the mechanism enough for an efficient market to develop in the new SDRM bonds? If the mechanism would help lead to more orderly outcomes, if it balances the interests of debtors and creditors, if it is developed in a broadly consultative process and if it is simple enough for people to understand, it should gain adherents. To be sure, building trust would take time. Some countries are likely to be early adopters and help create an initial market in the new SDRM bonds. Long-term growth of the market for SDRM bonds, however, would depend on the mechanism working well in resolving a number of defaults.

Wouldn't introducing a new class of bonds that are subject to the SDRM unhelpfully fragment global markets? No. The proposal, if implemented, would not change or fragment international bond markets. The only material change in bonds would be the line in the bond documentation specifying the governing law, and that would only be relevant in the case of a default; bonds would continue to be issued in all the same currencies and markets. The governing law and the market of issuance and trading are separable items — for example, there are already quite a few cases where US dollar bonds are sold in global markets governed by English law.

Given the global character of sovereign bond markets, is it realistic to say that the single host country approach avoids the need for complex international agreements? International complexities may be minimized, but cannot be fully eliminated in the proposed approach. While ringfencing legal relationships (the court, bond contracts, trustees, the clearing system entry point and bond custodians) in a single jurisdiction could minimize the risk of disruptive litigation, there will always be the potential for the attachment of non-immune assets in foreign

jurisdictions. The conventional approach to prevent this outcome is for a country to seek international recognition of the authority of its bankruptcy laws, but in the absence of specific rules there is still the possibility that foreign courts would pay deference to the rulings of the host country courts — a principal known as comity. Much more legal analysis would need to be done in this area, but the general conclusion is that international cooperation in this area would be important.

Some model law approaches and the IMF's 2003 proposal are selective on the use of litigation stays (and associated payment standstills), so why are these included in this proposal? The elimination of expensive, embarrassing and unpredictable litigation is a central concern of debtors. Therefore, litigation stays should be part of the system. The typical reason they may be left out is that the granting of a stay on legal actions by an international organization may be challenged when enforcement is sought in relevant jurisdictions. The single host country approach should not have this problem.

Does this approach mean that G7 approval is no longer needed to implement SDRM, as a single host country could go it alone? No. While a single country could technically put in place the relevant laws for an SDRM on its own, it is unlikely to do so without constructive support from the G7 and G20; leading countries generally take a consensual approach to decision making in this area, and the host country will take a high risk that the mechanism will fail to gain adherents if born of dissension. There is also the issue of international recognition mentioned above. With this said, the single host country approach could make it easier for proponents to gain support for an SDRM because it asks policy makers a fundamentally different question: the IMF's 2003 proposal asked leading countries if they would be willing to change their bankruptcy laws all at the same time to support implementation of a global SDRM, while this proposal asks countries whether they object if one of the G7 or G20 members goes ahead and sets up a mechanism on its own turf; the IMF's 2003 proposal asked policy makers for approval to change all the world's sovereign bond markets in one fell swoop, while this proposal asks policy makers, in effect, to approve a beta test of the resolution mechanism among a subset of debtors and creditors who voluntarily agree to be subject to its terms.

DISCUSSION

Restructuring debt contracts is never an easy topic. It is tricky to get the balance between debtors and creditors just right; a successful scheme needs to allow reasonable ease to restructure the debts of troubled countries, while not being so easy it increases the cost of funding to debtors in good standing. Market-based solutions have been shown to work fairly well; CACs have shown an ability to evolve over time, and debtors continue to enjoy very favourable funding costs. But the recent Greek and Argentine debt situations

underline the need for continued focus on creative ways to improve the way sovereign debt restructurings are handled.

This paper proposes that a single host country puts in place an SDRM. Set-up and operation would be much simpler than a multilateral approach. It should have greater appeal given its voluntary format: no debtor would be forced to use it and no creditor would be forced to buy the bonds. And it should not be feared as a major change of the balance between debtors and creditors, as restructuring agreements will, like CACs, rely on an affirmative vote of a supermajority of creditors. A characteristic feature of the proposal is that debtors will be asked to continue paying interest to creditors during negotiations (to the extent possible) to avoid disrupting markets as well as the debtor's economy. Finally, the proposal includes a symmetrical sanctioning regime in which the debtor risks the termination of the SDRM, the loss of legal protections and possibly a larger cash flow burden if it is uncooperative, while creditors risk the reduction of interest payments to them if they are uncooperative.

The spirit of the approach resembles a number of past proposals. It follows the current model law and UNCTAD approaches in aiming for incremental implementation. It resembles the "resolvency" regime promoted by Christophe G. Paulus and Ignacio Tirado (2013), as it provides a centralized framework to resolve covered debt. It accepts Charles W. Mooney, Jr.'s (2015) suggestion to "keep it simple, stupid." It is a kindred spirit to the Lerrick-Meltzer (2001) proposal: it uses stabilizing markets as a central objective. It has some similarities to a proposal from Patrick Bolton and David A. Skeel (2004) by relying on the court systems of advanced countries and allowing reprofiling-type solutions. And, as noted above, this proposal could be categorized as one specific way of operationalizing a "model law" approach.

Should a country (or state or province) seek to put in place the proposed SDRM, its success will rely on debtors being willing to use it and creditors being willing to buy the bonds. It should be easy to find the debtors given the support shown at the United Nations for the recent resolution. The crux of the matter will be to find creditors willing to buy the bonds at a reasonable price — and that would depend on designing a system that balances the interests of debtors and creditors.

The SDRM has been an enticing idea for almost 100 years, but it has failed to gain traction as a policy prescription. The history of the last decade saw it lose out twice to CACs, which have enjoyed rapid uptake in the markets. The convergence of CACs toward the SDRM through the recent incorporation of aggregated multi-series voting makes it an even tougher competitor. These observations suggest that if the SDRM wants to become relevant, it needs to co-opt features from the market-based approach. This paper shows one way to do it.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

While taking full responsibility for the views presented herein, I would like to thank the anonymous reviewer as well as a dozen or so friends, family and associates for providing helpful comments on drafts of this paper. I would also like to thank Domenico Lombardi, director of CIGI's Global Economy Program, for encouraging me to write on this topic.

WORKS CITED

- Bolton, Patrick and David A. Skeel, Jr. 2004. "Inside the Black Box: How Should a Sovereign Bankruptcy Framework Be Structured." *Emory Law Journal* 53: 763–822.
- Clement, Zack A. and R. Andrew Black. 2014. "How City Finances Can Be Restructured: Learning from Both Bankruptcy and Contract Impairment Cases." *American* Bankruptcy Law Journal 88 (1).
- Gianviti, François, Anne. O. Krueger, Jean Pisani-Ferry, André Sapir and Jürgen Von Hagen. 2010. *A European Mechanism for Sovereign Debt Crisis Resolution: A Proposal*. Bruegel Blueprint Series Volume X.
- IMF. 2003. *Proposed Features of a Sovereign Debt Restructuring Mechanism*. February. Washington, DC: IMF.
- Jewett, Mark. 2014. "Approaches to Sovereign Debt Resolution: Recent Developments." In *Sovereign Debt Management*, edited by Rosa M. Lastra and Lee Buchheit, xix–xxv. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Krueger, Anne O. 2002. *A New Approach to Sovereign Debt Restructuring*. Washington, DC: IMF.
- Lerrick, Adam and Allan H. Meltzer. 2001. Beyond IMF Bailouts: Default without Disruption. Quarterly International Economics Report, Carnegie Mellon Gailliot Center for Public Policy. May.
- Makoff, Gregory and Robert Kahn. 2015. Sovereign Bond Contract Reform, Implementing the New ICMA Pari Passu and Collective Action Clauses. CIGI Papers No. 56. Waterloo, ON: CIGI. February.
- Miller, Marcus and Lei Zhang. 1999. "Sovereign Liquidity Crisis: The Strategic Case for Payment Standstills." CSGR Working Paper No. 35/99. May.
- Mooney, Jr., Charles W. 2015. "A Framework for a Formal Sovereign Debt Restructuring Mechanism: The KISS Principle (Keep It Simple, Stupid) and Other Guiding Principles." Faculty Scholarship Paper 1547.
- Olivares-Caminal, Rodrigo. 2014. "Statutory Sovereign Debt Restructuring Mechanisms." In *Sovereign Debt Management*, edited by Rosa M. Lastra and Lee Buchheit, 333–58. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Paulus, Cristoph G. and Ignacio Tirado. 2013. "Sweet and Lowdown: A 'Resolvency' Process and the Eurozone's Crisis Management Framework." *Law and Economics Yearly Review* 2 (part 2).
- Rogoff, Kenneth and Jeromin Zettelmeyer. 2002. "Bankruptcy Procedures for Sovereigns: A History of Ideas, 1976–2001." *IMF Staff Papers* 49 (3): 470–507.

- Roubini, Nouriel. 2002. "Do We Need a New Bankruptcy Regime?" *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* (1): 321–33.
- Schwarcz, Steven L. 2000. "Sovereign Debt Restructuring: A Bankruptcy Reorganization Approach." Cornell Law Review 85: 956–1034.
- ——. 2015. A Model Law Approach to Restructuring Unsustainable Sovereign Debt. CIGI Policy Brief No. 64. Waterloo, ON: CIGI. August.
- Setser, Brad. 2002. "The Political Economy of SDRM." IPD Task Force on Sovereign Debt.
- UNCTAD. 2015. Sovereign Debt Workouts: Going Forward, Roadmap and Guide. April.

ABOUT CIGI

The Centre for International Governance Innovation is an independent, non-partisan think tank on international governance. Led by experienced practitioners and distinguished academics, CIGI supports research, forms networks, advances policy debate and generates ideas for multilateral governance improvements. Conducting an active agenda of research, events and publications, CIGI's interdisciplinary work includes collaboration with policy, business and academic communities around the world.

CIGI's current research programs focus on three themes: the global economy; global security & politics; and international law.

CIGI was founded in 2001 by Jim Balsillie, then co-CEO of Research In Motion (BlackBerry), and collaborates with and gratefully acknowledges support from a number of strategic partners, in particular the Government of Canada and the Government of Ontario.

Le CIGI a été fondé en 2001 par Jim Balsillie, qui était alors co-chef de la direction de Research In Motion (BlackBerry). Il collabore avec de nombreux partenaires stratégiques et exprime sa reconnaissance du soutien reçu de ceux-ci, notamment de l'appui reçu du gouvernement du Canada et de celui du gouvernement de l'Ontario.

For more information, please visit www.cigionline.org.

CIGI MASTHEAD

Executive

 President
 Rohinton P. Medhora

 Director of the International Law Research Program
 Oonagh Fitzgerald

 Director of the Global Security & Politics Program
 Fen Osler Hampson

Director of Human Resources Susan Hirst

Director of the Global Economy Program Domenico Lombardi

Vice President of FinanceMark MenardChief of Staff and General CounselAaron Shull

Publications

Managing Editor, PublicationsCarol BonnettPublications EditorJennifer GoyderPublications EditorVivian MoserPublications EditorPatricia HolmesPublications EditorNicole LangloisGraphic DesignerMelodie Wakefield

Graphic Designer Sara Moore

Communications

Communications Manager Tammy Bender tbender@cigionline.org (1 519 885 2444 x 7356)



